NEWINGTON TOWN PLAN AND ZONING COMMISSION
Regular Meeting
April 28, 2021
Chairman Domenic Pane called the regularZoom meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.
I.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

II.

ROLL CALL AND SEATING OF ALTERNATES
Commissioners Present
Chairman Domenic Pane
Commissioner Garrett Havens
Commissioner David Lenares
Commissioner Stanley Sobieski
Commissioner Stephen Woods
Commissioner Hyman Braverman-A
CommissionerThomas Gill -A
Commissioner Bryan Haggarty-A
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Commissioners Absent
CommissionerAnthony Claffey
Commissioner Michael Fox
Commissioner Braverman was seated for Commissioner Fox and Commissioner Haggarty
seated for Commissioner Claffey
III.

APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Chairman Pane: Renata, are there any changes at all?
Renata Bertotti: Mr. Chair, we have sent an amended agenda out to the Commissioners. The
amendments were to add addresses to the list of special permits that are to be scheduled for
public hearing tonight, and the other amendment that we did was to add the two items under
Public Hearing also as an Old Business item in case you close your hearings, so that you have
the opportunity to deliberate. Those are the only changes.
IV.

PUBLICPARTICIPATION (For items not listed on the agenda; speakers limited to
"Raise
two minutes. Use the Zoom
Hand" Feature.)
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Gail Budrejko: 1 have a kind of admission to make, and shame on me, but 1 really hadn't paid a
lot of attention to Newington's history over the past several years. Because of the 1 50th
anniversary I've really become a lot more involved. What 1 learned is that Newington Junction
has three neighborhoods that are designated as historic districts on the National Historic
Register of Historic Places. Being on the register is an identification of places that are
significant to our nation's history, and these three neighborhoods were placed on the register in
1987, and listing on this register really recognizes the communities significant properties, and in
my opinion, should be a source of civic pride. The reason that they are on the register is
because ofthe architectural styles that were used in some ofthe buildings that are still present,
and were built when the Junction was a really busy center of development and transport.
Designation at this national level isn't regulatory or directive, which kind of explains why the
area looks like it does now and historic integrity can only be protected really at the local level,
and at the local level at the past we really, 1 think we kind of neglected to either capitalize or
develop the area as something really special, or something of character and pride. As a result
this area is scattered obviously with incompatible modern structures, so because ofthis, when
the designation was made, three neighborhoods were identified as a separate historic district.
Newington Junction South, Newington Junction North, and Newington Junction West, and
Newington Junction South is located on either side of Willard Avenue, near the intersection of
Stoddard with Willard, and there are nine properties that are on the register, over ten acres.
These are six houses, the old North District School House which is now the American Legion
and two early twentieth century garages, and the houses here are noted for late Victorian
Colonial Gothic styles and there is architecture from 1725 to 1924.
Newington Junction North is on Willard Avenue, north ofthe intersection with West Hill Road.
There are thirteen properties that are recognized with styles that include Colonial Revival, late
Victorian and Queen Anne styles and the architecture there is 1850 to 1940.
The final one is Newington Junction West which is primarily along West Hill Road and also
includes the Pillars on Chapman Street. There are thirteen properties here and the buildings
there are cited as Colonial, Colonial arrival and late Victorian styles. The architecture there is
from the period of 1650 to 1949. In fact, the oldest structure, which is thought to be the oldest
building in Newington is the John Camp house at 301 to 303 West Hill Road.
So basically, 1 don't really know what happened between 1987 and now, but currently l think you
have an opportunity to make up for an awfully lost opportunities as you move forward with plans
to develop the Junction and TOD.
Historic preservation doesn't just mean individual properties but it also includes areas and
districts which have special meaning for the community. Historic areas can thrive because they
kind of have a concentration of buildings, structures, sites or styles that are linked historically
and also aesthetically and a lot of communities have successfully used their historic areas as
they work toward development and positive economic growth. If you just look at Old
Wethersfield any weekend, and certain areas are attractive places for residents and others to
visit, shop, dine, go for a walk, have a drink, and Newington Junction, ifyou take this opportunity
and if it's properly developed can certainly become a destination place.
So what I'm asking is that you consider incorporating the historical significance of Newington
Junction into your planning forfuture designs, themes and cohesiveness ofthe area, and
perhaps even come up with a way, when you are doing a new development, to kind of spruce
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up, integrate what is already there and develop kind of a, like 1 said, a destination place where
people can walk, come to, dine, shop and just recreate and also appreciate who were are as a
community, where we were, and where we are going, and properly done, it would have a
positive impact on the economy 1 think, but it would also protect and increase local personal
property values and 1 really think this type of development with the historic theme and
incorporating what is already there, would be more amenable to local properi:y values. It's
possible to do this without regulation, and 1 hope you will consider it, and 1 just want to mention
one last thing. 1 read about something called historic overlay zone,and that is an additional
layer of consideration for specific area, laid over the underlying zone, and it's been used in
several successful Connecticut communities applied to areas that are considered worthy of
preservation because of either architectural, cultural or historic significance. So instead of
establishing a cumbersome local historic district which would have an awful lot of regulations,
and committees and whatever, it seems like possibly an historic overlay zone would allow the
community to protect historic areas and structures to insure that any alterations, additions or
demolitions are in keeping with the special character ofthe area they want to preserve. In 1977
Connecticut General statutes 8-2 was amended to allow zoning commissions to consider
historic factors when rendering a zoning decision.
So 1 don't know ifthis is something you want to look into or you can consider, but in any case,
no matter how you proceed, 1 just hoping that you consider the significance of the area, what it
was and what it can be moving forward with the planning for Newington Junction because a
historic district that is aesthetically cohesive and well promoted 1 think could become an
important asset for Newington. Thank you.
Chairman Pane: Thank you very much. Is there anybody else from the public that would like to
speak?

V.

REMARKS BY CQMJVUSSIONERS

Commissioner Sobieski: 1 have a question. 1 got the updated zoning regulations effective 26
April. 1 was going through them today and 1 happened to notice that in the TOD zone, there are
some waivers in there, what it says 1 found interesting, it says less (inaudible) for landscaping,
for on site parking, and reduced front and side yard setbacks. So, 1 think we have to be really
careful about doing any kind ofwaiver, anywhere. In the court decision, it says that we cannot
waive our own rules, again, I'm bring that up because 1 don't want to see, 1 don't want to end up
in couri:. Definitely 1 agree with Gail, 1 did some research myself, 1 used to live at 337 Willard
Avenue when 1 was a little kid, and 1 know the salt boxes up there, some were relocated to
Massachusetts and reassembled. (Inaudible)
Commissioner Braverman: 1 agree with Gail Budrejko about the historic value of our
neighborhoods and the same with Stanley Sobieski.
Chairman Pane: Thank you very much. Any other remarks?
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PUBLIC HEARING:
A. Petition 17-21: Zoning Text Amendment to provide for alternate minimum
frontage in the PD Zone, and to increase allowed apartment density in the PD
Zone (Sections 4.5,3.18 and 3.19), HJG-PC Newington Investor, LLD, Applicant,
Dennis Goderre, Contact.

Chris Smith: Good evening Mr. Chairman, Commissioners, Town Planner Bertotti, Assistant
Town Planner Hinckley and Mr. Krupienski, thank you. Forthe record, my name is Chris Smith,
I'm a land use attorney with the law firm ofAlter and Pearson and 1 appear before you this
evening on behalf of the applicant concerning this petition for a zone text amendment. With the
permission ofthe Chair, 1 do believe that we have a power point presentation that Mr. Goderre
will hopefully pull up for us. This will assist with our presentation this evening. We do have
before you this evening a proposed text amendment to the Planned Development Zone District
and in particular they concern two specific areas in the Planned Development Zone. One
concerns density for apartments, the other concerns frontage, certain frontage requirements for
parcels for development purposes, and density is involved with staring with the bottom bullet
here, Section 3.19, frontage is 3.18, and then what we have been asked to do, and we have,
we've included those and rolled those into the Table that appears in Section 4.5. From an
overview, it's essentially two issues, two of the requirements in the PD Zone that we're
respectfully requesting that the Commission consider amending and one is density and the
other is frontage.
Standard review for a zone text amendment, never like to lecture a Commission butjust this
reminder, perhaps for folks that might be watching. It's a three part test, first the zone text, the
proposed zone text amendment has to be consistent with the comprehensive plan, which is you
are well aware comprises your zoning regulations and your zone map. Two, the proposal
should be consistent with the town's Plan of Conservation and Development, in this case your
Plan of Conservation and Development 2020 to 2030 that you just recently have adopted, and
three, the proposed text amendment should be found not to adversely impact public health,
safety and welfare and Dennis Goderre in particular from the team, will be walking you through
the specifics ofthe proposal, and demonstrating how we respectfully submitted the proposal
that does comply with this standard of review.
Legal notices, your professional staff did send the notice to CRCOG and the Regional Council
of Government did submit a report dated April 8, 2021 , and it's my understanding that you have
"there
is no apparent conflict with regional
a copy of that, but essentially CRCOG concluded that
concerns
of
neighboring
towns."
So,
in other words it doesn't have any
and
or
the
plans
policies
regional impacts. We did also, because the property is located in the Planned Development
Zone District throughout town, may be located over a watershed, so we did send notice to the
MDC as well as well as the DPH, the Department of Public Health as required by statute. So
those notices were sent and they have been returned and are part of the record.
Just to introduce the applicant and the consultant team; the applicant essentially comprises two
different entities, one is Grossman Development Group, the other Criterion Development
Partners. From the Grossman Development Group we have Mr. Howard Grossman, who is the
President and Managing Principle, we also have with us this evening Jamie Anderson who is
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the Senior Project Manager. On behalf of Criterion Development Partners we have Mr. Jack
Engler, who is the Executive Vice President and Principle from Criterion, and just for an
overview, the text amendments, as you are aware, we did a pre-application meeting with the
Commission and you were gracious enough to afford us status provided by state statute in your
rights. As you may recall, the ultimately, these text amendments will ultimately support a
special permit application, for a specific site development where there is a proposed mixed use,
in other words, part of it wilt be commercial/retail, the other would be residential, and Grossman
Development Group would be spearheading the commercial/retail component and Criterion, the
residential. For legal, myself, and with us this evening from BL Companies Dennis Goderre,
who is not only a professional licensed architect, he is also a certified AICP certified Planner,
and he is the senior project manager for this proposal. What 1 would like to do with the
permission ofthe Chair at this point, we'll get to the time frame that you gave us at the outset,
but 1 think it would be important again for you and possibly people attending the public hearing
just to hear, very briefly from Mr. Grossman and then Mr. Engler.
Chairman Pane: 1 have no problem with the time limit. You don't, we're not going to be
stringent on the time limit, so you can proceed and don't worry about going over the time limit.
Chris Smith: Thank you sir, 1 appreciate that. So, with you permission, I'll turn the presentation
over to Mr. Grossman.
Howard Grossman: Thank you and Good evening. 1 am President of Grossman Devetopment
Group. We're a retail and mixed use development and re-development company based in
Framingham Massachusetts, and we have been in business as Grossman Development Group
since 2009 although 1 have been doing retail real estate for over 40 years in various capacities.
We basically workaround New England, and we acquire, develop and redevelop retail and
mixed use. Again, just to point out in looking at properties around the area, and why we have
chosen Newington, we are very bullish and optimistic about Connecticut and we're here to stay.
We recently acquired property not too far from here in Middletown, Connecticut, Middletown
Plaza, and we're in the process of looking to redevelop that as well. We also have redeveloped
a mall in the Albany area, acquired a center in Waterville Maine. These are the most recent
ones, but the most comparable one to what we are talking about tonight and the proposed
development if we are fortunate enough to get these text amendments is a property that we
redeveloped a few years ago, actually an assemble of seven parcels in Shrewsbury
Massachusetts called Lake Great Commons. It has many ofthe factors related to the project
that we are looking to do in Newington. Grocery anchored along with about 50,000 feet of
amenity retail and boutique retail and by that 1 mean, sometimes we like to use the word, trying
to be as Amazon-proof as possible in this new world of retain and on line, so we have
restaurants, we have fitness, we have service, we have medical and wellness, banking and so
forth and those types of uses that customers and consumers have to come and feel and touch
and we have been very successful with that type of program. In Shrewsbury we have between
90 and 100 thousand square feet of retail and 250 apartments that were developed by Criterion
who we are partnering with here in Newington and you will hear from Jack Engler. One thing 1
do want to point out and the details of the project will be forthcoming obviously through Planning
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and Zoning in the near future. 1 really want to point out that Grossman Development Group as
a company, is not the type of owner that collects it's rents, cuts and runs and is absentee.
We're vertically integrated, we manage our own properties, at a very high level, and more
jmportantly we become part of the community, and 1 urge you, if you have the opportunity and
the inclination to speak with the Town Manager of Shrewsbury Massachusetts or the Planning
Board, or any ofthe Selectman, you'll see howwe executed this project, but more important
how we have become an integral part ofthe community, having community events at the
property more than a few times a year, working with non-profits and other community agencies
in need and we really try to be a good citizen within the community once we have executed our
plan. Thank you. Now I'd like to introduce Jack Engler of Criterion Development.
Jack Engler: Thank you Howard. Jack Engler from Criterion Development. We are a multifamily development company that has been based in the Boston and Dallas since 2004. The
partners here have worked together since 1996, so it's, l think l have been working with my
immediate partner here longerthan 1 have been married which is always interesting and very
similar in some cases. We are a multi-family developer, all we do is multi-family as 1 said. We
have built over 5500 units in the last several years, and are very please to have an opportunity
to join with Howard once again to try to mimic what we were able to successfully complete in
Shrewsbury, Mass, and Howard, and 1 don't mean to bolster his perception, but he is a great
developer and we are really thrilledto be able to be involved in another project with him.
The next page gives a sense ofthe types of developments that we have done. We have been
more active in Boston as of late, and these happen to show 288 units in Medford, right at the
Wellington T stop, another one in Cambridge, right on Route 2, just outside the LY train station,
and we have continued to look at multi-family only because that is all that we have ever done,
and we don't really get sidetracked with condominiums or any other types of development, so
an opportunity to work with a retail developer and actually create a mixed use development
where we don't have to do the other uses, is really a great opportunity for us and one that we
are very excited about. We've been in the Connecticut area quite a bit, looking around and we
never found the right fit. This to us is a great site and terrific opportunity and we really look
forward to moving forward ifthe board is so inclined.
Chris Smith: Thank you Howard and Jack. Mr. Chairman before turning the presentation over
to Dennis Gooderre who will walk you through the specifics with the text amendment and it's
relative to the standard of review for the Commission, 1 would just like to respectfully remind the
Commission, and anyone attending this public hearing that this evening involves two text
amendments. There is actually three, but there are two, one dealing with density and other with
frontage. There is no specific site development proposal before the Commission this evening
as you are well aware. If the text amendments were to be approved, any site development
would be subject to a new application, a separate one for a special permit and that would be
subject to a public hearing and a different process than this text amendment, so again, 1 was
hoping to just point that out for the record, and now Dennis Gooderre will walk you through the
proposed text amendments. So with that, 1 turn it over to Dennis. Thank you.
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Dennis Gooderre: For the record, my name is Dennis Gooderre, senior project manager with
BL Companies, an architecture and engineering firm located in Meriden, Connecticut and also in
Hartford Connecticut. As Chris as mentioned, my background as a certified planner, also
trained under the (Inaudible) and also a licensed architect in the State of Connecticut. 1 also
think it is important to note that as well as being a consultant, as 1 am currently, my past life 1
have also served as a Town Planner, City Planner for the City of Hartford, Town ofWaterford,
Connecticut, and the City of Groton as well, so 1 have sat on your side ofthe table, your Town
Planner and it's been a pleasure working with everybody. 1 look forward to giving you the
specifics ofthis application and thank you for your flexibility on the time allotted to us.
This, the three amendments as Attorney Smith noted, affect only the Planned Development
District, or the PD District. The current zoning map is up on your screen, and in red is the
locations ofthe PD District, with the majority ofthem being along the Berlin Turnpike in the
southeastern and south central portion. The PD District, from what we understand has been
around with the town since the eighties, or perhaps earlier. One thing that is not within the PD
District is an actually defined purpose, which is something that it would generally have, but it's
fine, and we have an understanding ofwhat the purpose ofthe district is, and that is to promote
the policies of your POCD, and creating flexibility to respond to changes in the economy. Mr.
Grossman had discussed one with being Amazon proof, and just changing how the economy
and retail and commercial evolved, and their influence on e-commerce.
It also generally provides flexibility for both standards such as lot sizes, coverage, frontage, and
the types of uses, types of housing, as well as building and site design as well.
Number one touches upon the frontage amendment, I'll make this point first, and there might be
some back and forth with numbers, but bear with me, it might be a little on the technical side
and a little on the mundane side, but it is necessary. So currently in the PD District, lots are
required to have a minimum of 70 feet offrontage. We are seeking to provide an alternative,
not to replace that, but an alternative minimum 50 feet. This again would allow ftexibility in the
design of lots and creating new lots, that might have and require flexibility and ownership.
Larger lots that would take various uses and that would bring various levels of expertise onto
the table which then, as I mentioned might require different ownership. This would also provide
flexibility with longer, narrower lots, maybe deeper, on those that might have irregular shapes,
and again, it is about providing opportunities for under utilized or vacant parcels, or not being
utilized to theirfullest potential or reutilized at all.
We believe that the 50 foot minimum, remember we are talking about it with this alternative,
would be sufficient for site access and the circulation. You could certainly fit a driveway or even
a roadway within 50 feet. Where this is being addressed is in two locations. The first is in
section 4.5 under Table B. Table B discusses the bulk standards in different zoning districts,
PD being one ofthem, and the height and yards in area requirement. The housekeeping item
that we are proposing to strike the reference to non-residential uses because in fact this table
does address residential and is actually noted right here as residential in the PD Zone with the
minimum lot area of five acres. That is really more of a housekeeping item for clarity.
We have added a Note 7, except as permitted by Section 3.18.3, inclusive of residential uses.
That really is referring to the alternative that we are proposing for the frontage here, so when we
go to that section, Section 3.18.4 it is currently showing frontage, at least 70 feet offrontage on

Newington TPZ Commission

April 28, 2021
PageS

a public street is required for each lot. The proposal that has been submitted before you
maintains that minimum of 70 feet, we did add some housekeeping, but this is where we provide
frontage may be reduced to 50 feet with the following provisions. I'll get into those provisions in
a moment. I simplified this text which talks about the (inaudible) lots are going to be subdivided,
having newfrontage of 300 feet, and the newly created lotwould have a minimum offive, and
then we also need access to ensure that there is adequate traffic circulation forjust a functional
standpoint of people utilizing the site, dispersing traffic, but also from a public safety standpoint.
A little more on what the alternative test would be. A lot that would be subdivided would have to
have a minimum of 300 feet of existing frontage and the new parcels that would be created
would have to be a minimum of ten acres, with the 300 feet of the existing parcel frontage, there
must be two points of access to a public way, both can be, the two points of access to the newly
created lot, and we have the reduced frontage, to clarify that, and one of those must be under
control by the owner of that lot with the reduced frontage, that second access can be provided
to a public way by an easement in perpetuity over another lot, and then, so this can't be a spiral
effect if you will, or a snowball effect, this can't happen more than this one time. You get one
crack atthe apple, an applicant couldn't decide, well, I'm going to something different, 1 created
a fifteen acre parcel, I'm going to come back and I'm going to make a dozen lots at the reduced
frontage. That would be contrary to this, and would not be provided under this proposal at
anothertime, another option.
So is the frontage, I'll walk you through the proposals addressing density. Density amendment
applies only to the density of apartments. It is to again, similar to the frontage to promote the
use or re-use of underutilized or vacant parcels to provide for changing and evolving market
demands. Will talk POCD later, in a moment. It also helps to address your policy for housing
in the POCD by creating that flexibility in housing type and the size of each unit as well, and that
size of the units would be driven by the consumer, the end user, those individuals who are
renting.
Currently the PD District allowed duplex, town homes as well as apartments. Apartments are
different than town homes and they are different than duplexes. Currently the way the
regulations are written density if the same blanket whether you are a duplex, town home, or
apartment. You have 4500 square feet of lot area per unit. Apartments are generally higher
density in nature, and people who are renting apartments are looking for a higher density
community to live it, and you might have, in a town home or duplex community. They generally
are one ortwo stories, definitely a minimum oftwo stories, but three, four or even five stories.
Under your PD District, you allow four stories and we are not looking to change that. It provides
a wider range of unit types from studios to one bedroom up to three bedrooms, and overall on a
density standpoint when you go up vertically the overall footprint gets less through a building
development standpoint. Just to re-emphasize, the three units we are talking about here, you
can see the duplex on the left, town homes on the right, both are generally two stories, and by
your definitions of a duplex, two dwelling units sharing one common wall, in a single structure,
and then the town homes would generally be a two story structure, with multiple units in one
overall structure, not sharing a common wall, and then apartments that would be generally two,
three, four stories, with, 1 believe your definition is four or more units within an apartment.
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The mechanics of how this would work, starting with Section 4.5 in Table A, as you can see
here, as I mentioned and all highlighted, patio houses, duplexes and town houses, the only
density that addresses that type of structure has no reference to apartments. For the PD
District density is addressed directly inside the PD zoning section right now and I'll show that in
a moment, we are suggesting that this table be amended to allow, to identify apartments at a
density of 1500 square feet per unit, and then there is a note to see Table B for the bulk
standards which when we talk about bulk standards it is already covered in Table B.
A couple offootnotes are added just to reinforce these would be permitted, apartments are by
special permit only. That wouldn't change the fact of how it works currently. It is currently a
special permitted use and it would remain a special permitted use.
This is a snapshot ofwhat the regulations look like currently.
Under site area, if you weren't reading carefully, you would not know where to find density but
actually the density is covered under the site area, not only does it state five acres, but it talks
about being 4500 square feet of site area for each dwelling unit, and then it goes on to discuss
how to compute the overall area of the site.
What we have proposed, first, there are a couple of housekeeping items, we've added a clause
here, subject to the density of apartments set forth in this section, really that is more of a clarity
to say residential is around, but ifyou want to do it, wherever density is located, it's located in
this section and we will refer to this section for that information.
We broke out site area and clarified that it is minimum and that would be five acres which hasn't
changed and then we have a new Item 3, for residential density, we struck the current text and
we just said to refer back to Table A, which is the 1500 square feet per unit. We didn't strike the
computation method, we felt that would provide both the Commission and applicants a greater
level offlexibility on reviewing applications when hearing a proposal. 1 mean, this is a special
permit use and you would have the ultimate flexibility when you are evaluating whether density
is in fact compatible with the property.
This would be a special permit for anything about this application that is before you tonight. Any
application before you for multi-family or for apartments within the PD Zone, if this was to be
approved, would come under the review of special permits. Under your Section 5.2 you
evaluate the need ofthe use and well as the character, the design ofthe building, as well as the
site, traffic impact, ensuring that there are adequate utilities, and then protecting adjacent
property to reduce impact, to make sure there are no detrimental impacts on neighboring
properties.
It would still be subject to site plan review which are covered in two separate sections, and part
of the special permit, where the Commission does have very broad discretion and may place
various types of conditions on a plan if it so chooses to approve a site plan special permit.
Couple more minutes if you would Mr. Chairman, 1 just want to give some highlights. Attorney
Smith had mentioned for the standard of review, one of those was the POCD 1 believe and the
Town Planner had provided in her report to you, we feel this is consistent with many policies in
your 2020-2030 POCD. I'm not going to read all ofthem forthe sake oftime, but it does provide
a variety of different housing types for people of different age categories, from empty nesters, to
married folks, to single older individuals, and that there is a need in the community according to
your POCD to provide that type of housing opportunity.
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From an economic development standpoint, the Berlin Turnpike has been identified as an
opportunity area, and it talks about redevelopment of sites that are under utilized specifically
and we believe that both the financial as well as increasing density for residential will help
support will be viable and successful. It continues to talk about attracting new businesses and
focusing one the economic opportunity areas which this is doing. Again, I won't go through
each individual one.
Chairman Pane: Okay, very good.
Dennis Gooderre: Again, in infrastructure it is addressed and we feel that we meet the
requirements of the Comprehensive Plan as well as the POCD and that there would not be a
detrimental or adverse impact on the health, safety and welfare.
Chairman Pane: Okay Dennis, thank you very much. 1 appreciate it. Does that wrap
everything up?
Dennis Gooderre: It does.
Chairman Pane: Okay, I'm just going to check with our Town Planner to see if she wants to add
anything, if she has any comments at all before we go to the public and I'll see if the
Commissioners have any questions.
Renata Bertotti: 1 am in support of this application. 1 have reviewed it, 1 believe that the request
for frontage reduction makes sense because first of all, in my opinion, it provides sufficient width
for the two way road, plus associated infrastructures such as installation of utilities, snow shelf,
sidewalks when required. 1 further believe that in the way that this particular aspect ofthe
proposal has been put up, it will encourage property owners to plan, like master plan
developments oftheir sites, ratherthan sort of piece meal and plan as they go along. Secondly
1 believe that the density increase is also compatible with several sections of our POCD. 1 have
itemized and outlined that in my memo. We currently allow four story buildings in the PD Zone,
so just from common sense, to allow these taller residential structures in the PD Zone. At the
same time, we have density restrictions that essentially locate these like taller buildings, but
require larger sites. We also don't have, necessarily different setback requirements. So if the
idea behind this was if you have a larger building it has to be further away from the street to
reduce that bulk impact, we don't have that currently in our regulations. Hypothetically
speaking, somebody could come and put a four story building on a large site, on the corner,
next to perhaps a residential neighborhood, or something. So, 1 really do not see why this
density restriction is so high for the apartments, 1 don't feel that it is warranted. Again, just to tie
in on this opportunity areas and sites, when you are looking at this, we're looking at the entire
PD Zone, so we're looking at the areas along the Berlin Turnpike, we're looking at the area on
intersection of Cedar and Fenn, places like that where you have high traffic roads and you
generally have parcels that lend themselves out for these kind of mixed and residential
developments. 1 think when you consider that, just keep in mind that this is not just necessarily
just to one location, this really applies to the whole zone, and in my opinion, it complies and fits.
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Chairman Pane: Thank you very much Renata. At this time I'll ask the Commissioners if they
have any questions for the applicant or the Town Planner. Please keep in mind that we have a
public hearing and we're going to go to the public next, but ifthere are any questions from the
Commissioners please raise your hand.
Commissioner Sobieski: Thank you. Couple ofthings, we are going to a 1500 square foot
apartment, I'mjustasking, whatwould thatentail, bedroom, living room, kitchen, dining......
Chairman Pane: I'm going to have our Town Planner explain that because it's, these aren't
related, this square footages, 4500 and 1500 are not related to the size ofthe unit. I'm going to
turn the meeting over to Renata.
Renata Bertotti: These 4500 square and proposed 1500 square feet are a land that needs to be
dedicated on a lot for a dwelling unit of residential development. If you have a parcel that is
perhaps let's say, 9000 square feet, you can have under 4500 square foot requirements, only
two units there. That would equate, so this would go from now, allowing two units to allowing 6
units, on the same size parcel, and I'm hypothetically speaking about small parcels and not
really calculating any wetlands or land that would normally be excluded.
Commissioner Sobieski: Thank you. 1 was just curious, that's all, 1 just wondered how a four
story unit was going to look.
Chairman Pane: The height is already allowed in our regulations now. You have to remember,
this is not specific to any one area.
Commissioner Sobieski: 1 understand that, 1 definitely am in favor of reducing the frontage from
70,1 think the 70 is way beyond was is needed. You can have a 30 foot road, and still have
room for amenities on the side. Thank you.
CommissionerWoods: I understand the lowering ofthe density, it makes perfect sense. At
4500 square feet, it makes a project like this completely undoable. I think though ifwe could, or
you, could explain to the public why we need to go from the 70 to the 50, 1 don't think everyone
is going to understand that. If 1 get it correctly it's because, we have one large parcel of land
right now, and you were looking to subdivide that into two. It would be two separate owners,
and if I'm following this correctly, the access to the apartment complex, if in fact this moves
forward is off of Pane Road. Am 1 correct in that?
Dennis Gooderre: Right.
CommissionerWoods: That's correct, right?
Dennis Gooderre: Yes sir.
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CommissionerWoods: 1 think people are going to have a hard time understanding that, you
look at 3333, we already have, again, there is probably in excess of 300 foot offrontage there,
and then we are talking about going from 70 down to 50 and why, 1 just think it is important to
get that out there. This is a unique parcel 1 believe, the way that you have decided to develop it.
1 credit you for that, you are turning it into two completely different pieces of land,and we
wouldn't, you wouldn't be able to develop that back piece if we maintain the 70 foot to get the
density that you are looking for. Again, 1 have no issues with it right now, 1 think it's a good text
amendment, and see what the public has to offer and what the other Commissioners have to
say.
Chairman Pane: Thankyou CommissionerWoods.
Renata Bertotti: Mr. Chair, if you don't mind, 1 would actually like to address this. This particular
group has put up this proposal to reduce the frontage because they will need that for their future
development ifthis is approved. However, as 1 said, this will apply to the whole PD Zone and
the reason why 1 am supporting it, and the reason that 1 thought it was a good revision was that
we just recently had another development that had converted from PD to TOD Zone, that had
exactly this same issue, so 1 believe that this question ofwhether or not the 70 foot requirement
for frontage in the PD Zone is excessive came up before, at least once since I've been here, so
this could be a way to address that in the future.
Chairman Pane: Thank you very much Renata. Ifthere are no objections, no other questions, 1
going to go to the public. If there is anybody wishing to speak in favor of this apptication?
Alan Bongiovanni: Good evening, forthe record, my name is Alan Bongiovanni, 170 Barn Hill
Lane, Newington. 1 am in favor ofthe text amendments that the applicant is proposing this
evening, the first being the frontage. As a town that is mostly developed this is going to provide
some flexibility forthe landowners to aggregate parcels, smaller parcels for adaptive re-use,
reutilization, which may not be able to happen with the current 70 foot frontage. As talked
about, there is a plan for a mixed use development, well, to make those projects happen there is
a lot of legal aspects to that, there are easements and things like that, and allowing that 50 foot
frontage, allows them to be separate parcels, easier to finance as the people who have spoken
this evening, there are two separate entities, creating a development that are two separate and
distinct developments but they are very compatible. This would allow that. It's a good thing that
the Town is entertaining this, because as 1 said, we have limited land, we have a lot of small,
under utilized parcels that could be aggregated and this would be a tool that would help the
Town move forward and some ofthe properties would realize their highest and best use.
Regarding the density requirements, as a land surveyor, land planner here in Newington I've
dealt with several projects, several prospective clients, on properties in the Town and under the
old regulation that exists now, some 40 plus years old, met the needs of the Town at that time.
Zoning needs to change with the times, and that is what this is proposing. People's desires
change, their needs change, demographics change, and the style of housing that this would
permit is what is popular today, and that is why zoning should change, to meet the needs of the
people. The current regulation really is, it makes it cost prohibitive if you would, to develop
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multi-family four story apartments with such a low density. We are surrounded in the town of
Newington, on all sides, with communities that allow higher density type development, we have
missed out on several opportunities over the last 15 years since apartments have come back in
favor with society, and this would allow us to be competitive and take advantage of a market
that is there and provide newer housing opportunities for the residents and potential new
residents to the town. One of the things that we have is a relatively fair amount of apartments
but it's of older vintage. Anything that is going to be built today is going to have different
amenities, different style, a lot more successful units being built, and that is something that
people need, and if these regulations can be modified or adjusted as proposed, to meet those
needs, then that is a benefit for the Town of Newington, and I'm completely in favor. Thank you
Chairman Pane: Thank you very much, is there anybody else wishing to speak in favor of this
application? One more try, if there is anyone wishing to speak in favor, now is the time.
Hearing none, is there anybody that would like to speak against this application?
Caro Santoro, 93 Francis Avenue: I just finished work and 1 signed in so I didn't hear all ofthe
conversation, 1 apologize for that. It looks like you are trying to amend to provide alternate
frontage in the PD Zone and increase apartment density, and what area does that cover?
Chairman Pane: It covers the PD Zone, which is Planned Development Zone, and it's up and
down the Berlin Turnpike mainly.
Caro Santoro: Okay, so this isn't related to Newington Junction?
Chairman Pane: No ma'm.
Caro Santoro: All right.
Chairman Pane: Let me double check with Renata. There's no PD zone over there is it?
Renata Bertotti: 1 do not have a zoning map in front of me, but the parcels that are currently
included for my review in the Newington Junction area are all zoned Industrial, not PD.
Chairman Pane: Okay. Thank you. Is there anything else Caro?
Caro Santoro: No, the only thing that 1 was a little bit concerned about is, Planning and Zoning
makes the decisions, and nothing against Renata, but the Town Planner generally isn't the one
that 1 understand makes the decisions. This would be up to, this here and Newington Junction
would be up to Planning and Zoning. Is that correct?
Chairman Pane: Say that again?
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Caro Santoro: So when it comes up to doing something in the zone, or changing a zone, my
understanding is that the Town Planner was not the one that made the decision, but the
Planning and Zoning Commission.
Chairman Pane: Yes, the Planning and Zoning Commission will make the decision ifwe
propose a zone, ifwe had proposed something, then this Commission will make the decision,
yes.
Caro Santoro: Okay, thanks, so the final decision is on the Commission. That was just my
question, 1 needed to get that cleared up.
Chairman Pane: No problem, thank you very much. Anybody else wishing to speak in
opposition? Does the applicant have anything that they would like to wrap up with?
Chris Smith: Mr. Chairman, Members ofthe Commission, professional staff again, thank you for
the opportunity to present this petition of zone text amendments to the Commission this
evening, and we respectfully submit that the proposed text amendments are consistent with
your comprehensive plan, your POCD and certainly will not result in an adverse impact to the
public health, safety and we would respectfully request that the Commission consider acting
favorably upon the text amendments that are before you tonight. Again, thank you for the time
and working with the Commission and your professional staff with this proposal.
Chairman Pane: Okay, thank you very much. Commission members, ifthere is no objection 1
don't see a reason why we can't close the petition 17-21.
CommissionerWoods moved to close Petition 17-21 and move it to Old Business for possible
action.
Chairman Pane: It's on the agenda for Old Business, so this will be closed and we will bring it
up under Old Business later in the agenda.
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Haggerty. The vote was unanimously in favor of
the motion, with seven voting YEA.

Petition 18-21: Special Permit (Sections 3.15.3 and 6.6.2) for a restaurant serving alcoholic
beverages in the B-BT Zone, at 2186 Berlin Turnpike, Olajide Bello, Applicant and Contact.
Chairman Pane: Is the applicant here? Could you state your name for the record, and
address and maybe explain a little about what you are proposing.
Olajide Bello: Good evening. What 1 am proposing to do in the restaurant is to be able to
serve alcohol beverages. A few months after Covic was when 1 started this, so the person
who was in the location before, and basically the restaurant was closed because of Covid. 1

Newington TPZ Commission

April 28, 2021
Page 15

told him what 1 was planning to do because when 1 moved from Houston, there was not this
kind offood in the area, and most ofthe people had to travel to New York and New Jersey
to get this food, so that was the idea why 1 wanted a restaurant close to this area. When we
started, 1 just (Inaudible) He didn't have any idea of how to get the license, and 1 said, okay,
ifthat is the case, that is what I need right now. 1 signed the lease and so going forward if 1
am able to serve alcohol beverage that would definitely improve our sales so we can
continue to be here, that is why 1 put in for the application.
Chairman Pane: Very good, thank you. We can go to the Town Planner, Renata, if you
could give us a report on this?
Renata Bertotti: The applicant actually owns a food mart, grocery store next door to what
used to be Tony Baloney's, and 1 think it was like a deli style restaurant that didn't have
originally a liquor permit. So the applicant would open a restaurant and for therestaurant
they are seeking a liquor permit. Going forward, 1 will definitely bring this up under our
regulation amendments, 1 would like to see these special permits for the sale of alcoholic
beverages be handled, not by the Commission butjust as a part ofthe site plan, or
something like that because restaurants really should not separately require a special permit
for liquor service, especially in areas like the Berlin Turnpike. That being said, this is
consistent with our site plan and special permit requirements and 1 would encourage you to
approve this.
Chairman Pane: Complies with everything, right? Complies with all ofthe distance
requirements or anything else?
Renata Bertotti: It does.
Chairman Pane:
Commissioners, do you have any questions? We're going to go to the
anybody
in
the
public,
public wishing to speak in favor of this?
Commissioner Sobieski: 1 have a question. Is there enough parking there?
Renata Bertotti: Mr. Chair, through you, they are required to provide on the site, parking
that is sufficient for a restaurant. This was analyzed for the previous restaurant. So, and 1
believe from years back, not that long ago, they were even in front of you for, yes, this
restaurant was only approved in 2019, so under that special permit you would have had the
parking.
CommissionerSobieski: 1 just wanted to make sure, thank you.
Chairman Pane: Going to the public now, anyone from the public wishing to speak in favor
of this application? Anybody wishing to speak in favor? Anybody wishing to speak in
opposition to this application. Anybody wishing to speak in opposition? 1 think this is a nice
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added benefit to the applicant, and I'll ask the Commissioners ifthere are no other questions
or objections that we close Petition 18-21 and take it up under Old Business.
CommissionerWoods moved to close Petition 18-21 and to discuss it under Old Business.
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Sobieski. The vote was unanimously in favor
ofthe motion, with seven voting YEA.

VII.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

CommissionerSobieski moved to approve the minutes ofthe regular meeting ofApril 14,2021.
The motion was seconded by CommissionerWoods. The vote was unanimously in favor ofthe
motion, with seven voting YEA.
VIII.

NEW BUSINESS
None

IX.

OLD BUSINESS
A. Petition 17-21: Zoning Text Amendment to provide for alternate minimum
frontage in the PD Zone, and to increase allowed apartment density in the PD
Zone (Sections 4.5.3.18 and 3.19), HJG-PC Newington Investor, LLC, Applicant,
Dennis Goderre, Contact.

Commissioner Sobieski moved to approve the zoning regulation amendment with the effective
dateof11 May, 2021.
REASONS FOR THE APPROVAL
1.

The reduction of the lot to fifty feet provides (inaudible) and will accommodate a two
way road and the right ofway for (inaudible) of utilities. The proposed amendment for
density in the PD Zone are in keeping with the 2020-2030 POCD and in particular the
goals and objectives of the Plan.

The motion was seconded by Commissioner Woods.
Chairman Pane: Any questions? 1 think this is an excellent thing for the Town of Newington.
It's really, possibly going to bring in some development for PD Zones, and I'm all in favor ofthis.
After a roll call vote, the motion passed unanimously with seven voting YEA.
Petition 18-21: Special Permit (Sections 3.15.3 and 6.6.2) for a restaurant serving alcoholic
beverages in the B-BT Zone, at 2186 Berlin Turnpike, Olajide Bello, Applicant and Contact.
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Commissioner Haggerty moved to approve the special permit to allow the restaurant to serve
liquor.

REASONS FOR THE APPROVAL
1. The proposed use meets the special permit criteria of Section 6.6.4 and 5.2.6 of the
regulations.
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Sobieski.
Chairman Pane: 1 think this is an excellent thing for the business owner. 1 hope this helps his
business, I'm all in favor ofthis.
After a roll call vote, the vote was unanimously in favor ofthe motion, with seven voting YEA.
X.

PETITIONS FOR PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULING:
A.

Petition 19-21: Special Permit (Sec 3.19) and associated site plan to
construct a residential apartment development in the PD Zone, at 3333 Berlin
Turnpike, LotA, HJG-PC Newington Investor LLC, Applicant.

B. Petition 20-21: SDecial Permit (Sec 3.19) and 3J5) and Associated Site Plan
to allow a restaurant in the PD Zone, HJG-PC Newington Investor LLC,
Applicant
C. Petition 21-21: SDecial Permit (Sec 3.19) and 3.15) and Associated Site Plan
to allow a place of physical activity or recreation in the PD Zone, HJG-PC
Newington Investor LLC, Applicant.
D. Petition 22-21 Soecial Permit (Sec 3.19) and 3.15) and Associated Site Plan
to allow a brew pub restaurant in the PD Zone, HJG-PC Newington Investor
LLC, Applicant.
E. Petition 23-21: SDecial Permit (Sec 3.19) and Associated Site Plan approval
to allow a retail development in excess of 40,000 square feet in the PD Zone,
HJG-PC Newington Investor LLC, Applicant
F. Petition 24-21: Special Permit (Sec_3^ZZ) to allow a religious event at 155
Lowrey Place, Church Catedrai De Adoracoa, Applicant
Chairman Pane: I'll ask Renata if there is anything she wants to say about the Petitions for
Scheduling. If not, she can go right into her Town Planner report.
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Renata Bertotti: I don't necessarily need to speak about the applications that are scheduled for
hearing. 1 actually was going to address some ofthat under my Planner's report anyway.
XI.

TOWN PLANNER REPORT

Renata Bertotti: 1 wanted to inform you that we have been quite busy in the department,
excitingly busy. With that in mind, 1 have started preparing some documents that we will be
posting on line so that the general public, 1 and will encourage you, when you speak to your
friends, your neighbors, let them know that this is available, but any application that comes to
the Planning Department is going to get posted on the document that 1 don't even remember
what 1 named it. These are the applications that were received between the 14th and the 26th.
You have several applications that are for the site at 3333 Berlin Turnpike. The first application
deals with the residential development, the next four deal with several series of uses that they
will have on the commercial part ofthat property. This looks like a big deal, but you will be
having the hearing on the commercial part, and it will include explanations as to the brew pub,
as to the gyms, as to the restaurants where all these other uses specifically that require special
permits.
We have also received an application for, to allow a religious event. This is something that 1
believe happens annually. It's for the downtown on Lowry Place, and then we are also looking
at development at 285 and 293 Connecticut Avenue. There is a subdivision request as well as
several permits to create some interior lots. So, these are just the ones that we received
between the 14th and the 21st.
This is the document that 1 was actually starting my report with. We will put anything that comes
to the Planning will be put on this agenda and we will provide a tentative schedule. This is kind
of looking maybe a month, month and a half ahead, so that people have a notice about the
hearing items for any application for site plan, they are including wetlands and ZBA applications
here as well, so 1 believe that this is going to help us notify the public a little bit better than just
scheduling things just for the public hearing.
Chairman Pane: 1 agree, it's already been out on Facebook,
Renata Bertotti: 1 also have received several inquiries and one in particular that 1 wanted to get
some direction from the Commission on, is the skating rink, the Newington Skating Rink which
is a business that is actually not impacted by Covid somehow, I'm not sure how that happened
to them, but apparently they did okay. They perhaps have some plans to expand, but in
addition to that, they may also have some plans to add a restaurant, rather than a snack bar. It
is in an Industrial zone, and this is the second or third time that somebody has asked me about
having a restaurant in an Industrial Zone, since November. 1 wanted to see, with you, ifthis was
one of those things that 1 should perhaps do an amendment and proposal to allow restaurants,
even ifwe do it under speciat permit, but in some form so that that use is allowed in an Industrial
zone. 1 see no negatives to it.
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Chairman Pane: The Newington Skating Rink, if I'm not mistaken, we approved a small addition
for them some time ago, but 1 don't believe that they did the addition. That should be on the
record somewhere, and as far as putting a restaurant in the skating rink, or other Industrial
zones, 1 don't see a problem with that. 1 think having something like that in the skating rink
could be a very good plus for the visitors, along for the business too. 1 don't have a problem
with that, let's open it up to the other Commissioners to see how they feel. Any body like to
comment on that?
CommissionerWoods: Yes, I'm in favor of moving forward on that, adding a restaurant to the
skating rink if in fact they would do that, and also having restaurants in the Industrial Zone. 1
think both are good uses.
Commissioner Sobieski: As far as the skating rink, as long as it's open only when the rink is
open and isn't going to be open after the rink is closed, and as far as the Industrial area, 1 think
that has to be looked at area by area, but it's a possibility.
Chairman Pane: 1 think that is why Renata is proposing to have them by special exception so
that they will come to this Commission so that you can review each one. Correct, Renata?
Renata Beri:otti: Frankly Mr. Chair, at some point 1 would like to not have to require special
permits for all restaurants of all sizes, but 1 kind offeel that this could be one of those quick
things and temporary things until you as a Commission decide how you want to go with the
restaurants, period. Then that will apply to each zoning district, 1 feel right now to just put it as a
special permit in Industrial will help.
Chairman Pane: 1 agree with you and yes, the goal is to try to eliminate some of those by
special exception and having them by right. I'm in favor of that, down the road when we get a
chance to talk about it as a full Commission. Any other Commissioners have any comments for
Renata on this? Ifthere isn't anything Renata, you can continue with your report.
Renata Bertotti: 1 don't have anything else to report. 1 have another item that 1 will bring to you
later, it's the location of these mechanical units that require variances. 1 can't make that a
priority for me, but one ofthe things that 1 look into, to tell me where our regulations are not
good, or where they could be corrected is if 1 get the same request for a variance over and over
agaln.
Chairman Pane: Are you talking about the AC units that are going over the property lines, and it
has to go to ZBA?
Renata Bertotti: Well, not overthe property line, overthe setback.....
Chairman Pane: 1 mean setback line.
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Renata Bertotti: That is one of those things that 1 think, if somebody were to place like a little
fence around it, or some landscape to attenuate the noise, with the new technology these are
not as noisy as they used to be, so we could look into getting a regulation that allows them up to
X feet to the property line without, to eliminate some ofthese variances.
Chairman Pane: 1 agree with you. I've seen a much ofthem, and 1 agree, the units today are a
lot quieter so all great points. Any other Commissioners have any comments?
CommissionerWoods: 1 was just going to bring up Cedar Pointe, and if Renata could give us
an update on where it is, is it going to be back in front of us? 1 believe they are making some
changes, 1 don't know if it requires them to come back in front of us, but ifwe could get an
update. Renata, if you don't have it available, maybe at the next meeting.
Renata Bertotti: They have not applied to me for anything. 1 don't know ifthey are doing any
changes to anything, however depending onwhat that change is, you know, ifwe are talking
work force housing versus affordable housing, 1 don't think that is a change that will being them
back to you. That is something that has been decided by the court, it has been decided with like
the first sentence in the decision, starts with the court reviewing this as an affordable housing
project or an affordable housing development. Whether you call it work force housing, it doesn't
matter to the court, so unless they change something that is not superseded by what is decided
in this court decision, they won't be in front of you.
CommissionerWoods: Again, I'm underthe impression that 1 believe that the density has
changed, there's less structures, which may not come in front of us, but the structures have also
changed, that would bring them back in front of us, would it not?
Renata Beriiotti: That 1 would not know, like 1 haven't seen anything from them. Ifthey bring
something in, it will be through the Town Attorney. That is one that is kind of a little over my
head.
Chairman Pane: They certainly have the option to come back in front of us now that the density
levels are changed and possibly propose additional units there, is that correct?
Renata Bertotti: They may have the option, but they may not be required.
Chairman Pane: Not required, to come in front of us? But they could still add more units?
Renata Bertotti: 1 don't know, it all depends on that court decision and what is it that they are
doing. 1 don't know what they are doing.
Chairman Pane: All I'm saying is that they are putting in X amount of units. Ifthey chose to add
more units to it.
Renata Bertotti: Honestly Mr. Chair, 1 would address that question to the Town Attorney.
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Chairman Pane: Okay. Commissioner Gill, did you have a question?
Commissioner Gill: As far as the on-line applications, are welooking into that, or.
Renata Bertotti: What exactly do you mean?
Commissioner Gill: The zoning applications, we don't have them on line right now, correct?
Renata Bertotti: 1 don't believe, if you mean like a software system that we use to issue building
permits, we do not, we as a town do not have any kind of service like that, so we do have forms
posted on line, we will take stuff that gets e-mailed, we are also still requiring paper submission
because we need like signature of owner consents and things of that nature, but we do not
have, unless the Town invests some money into a developer who will put in like a software
system for us to do that like building permits, 1 don't know how otherwise we could do it.
CommissionerGill: Okay.
Commissioner Sobieski: Getting back to Cedar Pointe, my understanding is that they reduced it
from 108 units to 72 or 74 because they applied for additional grant money on 8-37 and fifteen
ofthose units have to be supervised units. That's what 1 was told, so 1 don't know ifthat means
they are going to put less units in, but 1 would like to see any changes that they are making,
whether it is the design of the building, or whatever. I'm not saying that 1 want to review the fact
that it is affordable housing or the judge's decision. 1 think we need to see, we owe it to
ourselves in the town, that we see what they are doing.
Chairman Pane: Any other comments from the Commissioners?
XII.

COMIVIUNICATIONS

Chairman Pane: Did everyone see the CRCOG reports? Are there any questions regarding
them?
XIII.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION (For items not listed on the Agenda; speakers limited to
"Raise Hand" function.)
two minutes. Use the Zoom
None

XIV.

REMARKS BY COIVIMISSIONERS
None

XV.

CLOSING REMARKS BY THE CHAIRMAN
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Chairman Pane: As far as the comments from Councilor Bedrejko 1 think that our intent always
was to protect the historical area over there, provide new development and still have a lot of
protection for the existing historical areas there, so 1 don't see a problem trying to incorporate
some things to protect the history and maybe incorporate some ofthe history into the design of
future building there so that it blends in with the neighborhood, in a nice way. We will certainly
address that when the time comes.
I want to thank everybody, 1 think it was a great meeting and thank you James.
James Krrupienski: My pleasure.
XVI.

ADJOURN

CommissionerWoods moved to adjourn the meeting. The meeting was adjourned at 8:30 p.m.
Resppctfully submitted,
^^^^

nne Addis,
Recording Secretary

